THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 22 2018

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION S.C. SUPREME COURT

Op. No. 5566 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 6, 2018)  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001877

Tyrone York, as personal representative  
for Timothy York (Deceased), Shirley York,  
and Yvonne Burns, Plaintiffs,

Of whom Yvonne Burns is the ..... Respondent,

And Shirley York is the ..... Petitioner,

v.

Longlands Plantation a.k.a. Knollwood,  
Inc., and Companion Property  
and Casualty Group ..... Respondents.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

Ann McCrowey Mickle # 3522  
MICKLE & BASS  
1519 Richland Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 929-0029

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the workers' compensation commission correctly find Respondent is not a "dependent" under the Workers' Compensation Act?

## INTRODUCTION

The Workers' Compensation Act provides a financial "death benefit" when an injured worker dies because of a work-related injury. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-290(A) (Supp. 2018). "Dependents" have first priority to this benefit. *Id.* If there are no dependents, the benefit passes to the injured worker's family. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-140 (2015).

This case is about whether "dependency" includes "off and on" romantic co-habitants who had no legal obligation to each other and who did not claim each other as dependants.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. General abbreviated background.

Timothy York drowned while working at Longlands Plantation in August of 2013. (R.pp.253-254). A few weeks later, in September of 2013, a formal claim on his behalf was filed with the Workers' Compensation Commission. (R.p.149).

Two people presented competing claims to Timothy's death benefit—Shirley York and Yvonne Burns.

Yvonne claimed to be Timothy's common law wife. (R.p.157, lines 2-8). She alternatively claimed that if she was not Timothy's common law wife, she was nevertheless Timothy's "dependent" under the Act. (R.p.158, lines 12-17).

Shirley said Yvonne was not Timothy's common law wife or his dependent and that she (Shirley) should receive the death benefit as Timothy's next of kin. (R.pp.158-159).

**B. Proceedings at the commission.**

The case was tried in front of a single commissioner over three days in June of 2014. (R.pp.151-250). Fourteen witnesses testified. (R.p.2).

The single commissioner issued her order in June of 2015; nearly a year after the trial. The order is 73 pages long and includes an extensive summary of the evidence, see (R.pp.7-56), as well as 63 findings of fact, see (R.pp.56-72), and a number of conclusions of law. (R.pp.72-75).

The single commissioner found there was no common law marriage. (R.p.57, ¶11 - p.63, ¶30). Among other things, she found Timothy and Yvonne “lived together off and on in a tumultuous relationship characterized by separations resulting from either alcohol consumption or arguments regarding finances.” (R.p.57, ¶11). The single commissioner noted Timothy listed his marital status as “single” with no dependents on his tax returns for the two years preceding his death. (R.p.60, ¶25) see also (R.pp.259, 262).

The single commissioner relied on precedent in denying Yvonne’s argument that she was a “dependant.” The commissioner noted Timothy gave money during his life to both Shirley and Yvonne and found this was a degree of “dependency” in fact. (R.pp.64-65, ¶¶37-39). As a matter of law, however, the commissioner relied on this Court’s decision in *Day v. Day*, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E.2d 83 (1950) and on a decision from North Carolina, which was persuasive. (R.pp.69-70, ¶¶53-55). The commissioner read these cases as holding that the court would not construe dependency to include someone living in an “illicit” relationship with a person to whom they are not legally married. *Id.* As the commissioner noted, those cases express doubt the legislature intended dependency to include such a relationship. *Id.*

An appellate panel of the commission affirmed the single commissioner's decision and repeated the single commissioner's order, virtually verbatim. (R.pp.76-148).

**C. The arguments to the court of appeals.**

Yvonne appealed to the court of appeals. Her arguments there can be fairly grouped into two points.

First, Yvonne said there was no evidence this relationship had been "illicit." The commission's orders cited a criminal statute penalizing "fornication" and found that Yvonne and Timothy violated this statute. (R.pp.70 & 143, ¶¶56-57). Yvonne argued no evidence supported the finding that the relationship had been intimate. (App.p.12) (Yvonne's argument headings). This seemed odd given Yvonne's chief argument had been that she and Timothy were common law *married*. A claim of marriage implies intimacy.

Yvonne's secondary argument was that the commission erred in relying on *Day* and on the similar case from North Carolina because South Carolina's statutory provisions regarding dependency do not expressly limit dependency to relatives. *Id.*

Shirley's chief argument to the court of appeals was that the case did not hinge on policing intimate conduct or on a statute purporting to criminalize that conduct. She said the case was controlled by *Day* and by the decision of the court of appeals in *Palm v. General Painting Co.*, both of which stand for the rule that the court will not presume the legislature intended an unmarried romantic co-habitant to be a dependent under the Workers' Compensation Act. (App.pp.39-43). Shirley argued it was not possible to meaningfully distinguish those cases because at bottom, they are grounded on the reasoning that being married to someone is materially different from living together and not being married. *Id.*

Shirley's secondary argument to the court of appeals was that Yvonne's case for legal dependency was foreclosed by the facts. (App.p.46). The commission noted Yvonne has a job and owns her own home. (R.p.114). The commission also noted Yvonne's recent tax returns state that she is the head of her household and that no one can claim her as a dependent. (R.pp.61. & 133, ¶26). The commission noted Timothy told the government the same story: his tax return said he was single and did not have any dependents. (R.pp.60 & 133, ¶25). Yvonne did not challenge these facts on appeal.

Shirley claimed it was telling that the parties had no significant legal ties to each other. (App.pp.44-46). For example, they did not have insurance policies naming each other as beneficiaries. Shirley was the one who had an insurance policy covering Timothy's funeral expenses. (R.pp.180-181). Yvonne did not have such a policy. And Timothy's brother, not Yvonne, applied to handle Timothy's estate. This was a significant point because Timothy had no assets at the time of his death but he *did* have debts. (R.p.182).

**D. The decision of the court of appeals.**

The court of appeals conducted oral argument in April of 2018. It issued a unanimous decision reversing the commission two months later, in June. (App.p.1).

The court held *Day* was distinguishable because the relationship in *Day* had been bigamous. There, the injured worker had been married to someone else. The woman living with the injured worker believed she was the worker's legal wife, but she was not. (App.p.5). Here, the court of appeals said, there was no evidence Timothy and Yvonne's relationship had been "illicit." (App.p.6). Then, the court of appeals remanded the case to the commission to determine whether Yvonne qualified as a dependent under the Act.

Shirley filed a petition for rehearing, arguing there was no need to remand given that no case in South Carolina had ever recognized dependency outside the context of a familial relationship and that regardless of whether dependency could exist outside the familial relationship, it plainly did not exist here, on these facts. (App.pp.7-9). Shirley explained precedent's characterization of this relationship as "illicit" was not about passing a moral judgment. *Day* and *Palm*, she contended, are grounded in the common-sense decision to read the dependency statutes in light of values that the law regards as important. The law views being married to someone as meaningfully different from living together and not being married. In Shirley's view, *Day* and *Palm* stand for the proposition that if the legislature intended to include this sort of relationship as a basis for dependency under the Act, the legislature would have said so expressly.

The court of appeals denied rehearing in a brief order. (App.p.10).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review is found in section 1-23-380(5) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2018). See *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 134, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981) (judicial review is governed by the Administrative Procedures Act). Per the statute, this Court may not substitute its judgment for the commission's as to the weight of evidence but may reverse when the decision is affected by an error of law, clearly erroneous, or arbitrary.

When the facts of a workers' compensation case are not in dispute the question presented is one of law, not fact. *Davaut v. Univ. of S.C.*, 418 S.C. 627, 632, 795 S.E.2d 678, 681 (2016). There are no facts in dispute here. This case concerns whether the facts constitute legal "dependency." This Court reviews questions of law de novo.

## ARGUMENT

There are three basic reasons this Court should reverse the court of appeals and reinstate the commission's judgment that Respondent is not a dependent.

First, though the statutory text does not directly answer the question whether an unmarried romantic co-habitant can qualify as a "dependent," no South Carolina case has found dependency in the absence of some familial relationship.

Second, *Day* and *Palm* control. Those cases are grounded in the sensible assumption that dependency does not include a non-marital romantic relationship and that the legislature should amend the relevant statutes if that view is erroneous. There have not been any amendments in response. This silence suggests *Day* and *Palm* are sound.

Third, while it is not hard to imagine a co-habitation case that would present a difficult question, this is not that. This was not long-term and happy dependency. The commission found this relationship was unstable and tumultuous. The testimony was that Yvonne wanted Timothy around only as long as he gave her money and that Timothy stayed with others just as much as he stayed with Yvonne, if not more. Also, and tellingly, *neither party* claimed the other as dependents on their tax returns.

The court of appeals remanded but it is hard to see why. This dispute is one of law, not fact. There were few legal ties between Timothy and Yvonne, if any. They did not have joint accounts or own a home together. They did not have insurance policies naming each other as beneficiaries. Nothing suggests they believed they had any legal obligation to support each other. That makes sense—if they wanted that obligation they would have gotten married. The commission got it right. This Court should reverse the court of appeals.

**A. The statutory text does not directly answer the question but no South Carolina case has found dependency in the absence of some familial relationship.**

Two statutes are relevant to this question of dependency. They do not answer this question directly.

The first statute explains an injured worker's spouse and children are conclusively presumed to be dependents. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-110 (2015). The second statute says that in all other cases, dependency "shall be determined in accordance with the facts[.]" S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-120 (2015).

In *Day*, this Court explained the Act "does not define dependency, and does not specifically indicate who are dependents[.]" 216 S.C. at 342, 58 S.E.2d at 86. Then, this Court generally defined a "dependant" as "one who looks to another for support and maintenance; one who is in fact dependent—one who relies on another for the reasonable necessities of life." *Id.* at 342, 58 S.E.2d at 86-87.

As with the statutes, *Day* does not expressly limit dependency to relatives. *Id.* at 342, 58 S.E.2d at 87. Still, in the nearly seven decades since *Day*, there are no decisions in this state recognizing dependency under the Workers' Compensation Act without some sort of familial relationship.

The dependent in *Adams v. Texfli Industries* was a minor stepchild. 341 S.C. 401, 535 S.E.2d 124 (2000). There, the deceased injured worker provided his stepchild with several necessities including insurance, paying household utilities, providing clothing, and paying the mortgage on the family home. *Id.* at 404, 535 S.E.2d at 125. This Court also noted the deceased injured worker claimed the stepchild as a dependent for taxes. *Id.*

The dependent in *Second Injury Fund v. Young* was an adult niece who was entirely dependent on her uncle due to her poor health. The record also reflected that the uncle told the niece he would take care of her. 301 S.C. 524, 528, 392 S.E.2d 807, 810 (Ct. App. 1990).

This Court's decision in *Bush v. Gingrey Brothers* involved a situation where both the deceased worker's widow and his mother were wholly dependent on the deceased worker. 232 S.C. 20, 100 S.E.2d 821 (1957). That case held that the death benefit should be divided between the two of them. As noted above, no case in this jurisdiction has found legal dependency outside the context of some recognized familial connection.

One reason for this is probably a function of custom. *Day* defines dependency as relying on someone for the basic necessities of life. The people who depend on the injured worker for those basic necessities will most often be the injured worker's family.

But another reason for this is likely a formal one. This Court has written that the goal of workers' compensation is preventing "the injured employee and those *lawfully* dependent on them for support from becoming charges on society." *Hines v. Hendricks Canning Co.*, 263 S.C. 399, 406, 211 S.E.2d 220, 223 (1975) (emphasis added). The phrase "lawfully dependant" connotes a legal obligation to provide support. Those sorts of obligations are traditionally found in a family. They do not commonly exist other places.

The fact that no South Carolina case finds dependency without a familial connection is not controlling. Still, it says something. There are legal obligations to support a spouse and minor child. One can explain a case like *Young* by pointing to the injured worker's promise to provide for the would-be dependent. There is nothing like that here. Nothing suggests Timothy and Yvonne believed they had any legal obligation to support each other.

**B. *Day and Palm* control and the lack of subsequent amendments suggests those decisions are sound.**

Yvonne’s dependency argument is the same argument this Court considered in *Day*. There, as here, the appellant claimed benefits as the injured worker’s widow and alternatively as a non-spousal dependent. 216 S.C. at 336, 58 S.E.2d at 84. The appellant pointed to the same statutory language; the language instructing that dependency should be determined “[i]n all other cases”—meaning, cases where the person claiming to be a dependent is not a surviving spouse or child—“based on the facts.” *Day* recited this argument explicitly. *Id.* at 341, 58 S.E.2d at 86.

This Court rejected that argument, explaining “we cannot escape the conclusion that it was not the intention of the legislature to permit a woman to be classed and considered as a dependent within the meaning of our Compensation Act who lives in illicit relationship with a man to whom she is not legally married.” *Id.* at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88. This Court finished by reciting its view that if the legislature intended to include such a relationship as a basis for dependency, the legislature would have made an express provision to that effect in the relevant statutes. *Id.* at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88.

Two things are noteworthy about *Day* beyond its holding. First, the record showed “beyond question” that the appellant was completely dependent on the deceased worker. *Id.* at 341, 58 S.E.2d at 86. Second, this Court recited that the facts of the case appealed “strongly” to the Court’s sympathy because the appealing party genuinely believed she was married to the decedent. *Id.* at 344, 58 S.E.2d at 88. In spite of having these things in her favor, the appealing party lost her claim to dependency. The decision was unanimous.

The facts are not as favorable for Yvonne. Yvonne owns her own home, has a job, and appears to be able-bodied. (R.p.114). She also has no good faith claim to a marital relationship—the commission said that at best, Yvonne and Timothy *may* have planned to get married at some point in the future. (R.p.130, ¶11). The commission did not view as credible Yvonne’s contention that the wedding was set to occur the week after Timothy died; specifically noting Yvonne never told her son about any upcoming wedding, no invitations were sent, and there were no plans for any sort of celebration. (R.pp.134-136, ¶29). The commission recited that Timothy’s mother, brother, other family and friends were unaware of any wedding *or of any engagement*. (R.p.130, ¶13). Yvonne’s story was questionable.

Yvonne’s argument is also the same argument the court of appeals rejected in *Palm v. General Painting Co.*, 296 S.C. 41, 370 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1988). As in *Day*, the cohabitant in *Palm* was found to be wholly dependent on the injured worker while at the same time, she was married to another person. *Id.* at 43, 370 S.E.2d at 464. A key difference between *Palm* and *Day* is that the *Day* appellant believed herself married to the decedent, but the woman in *Palm* did not claim she was a spouse. *Id.* at 49, 370 S.E.2d at 468. The court of appeals explained “dependent” obviously did not include someone who knowingly cohabits while not married if dependency excluded the woman in *Day*, who had a good faith but mistaken belief of marriage. *Id.* at 49-50, 370 S.E.2d at 468.

There is no way to meaningfully distinguish those cases from this one. There are factual differences of course: *Day* and *Palm* both involve marriages that would have been bigamous because one of the cohabitants was married to someone other than their roommate, but the controlling legal principle is not distinguishable. The commission found Yvonne and

Timothy were not married at common law. As *Callen v. Callen* explains, that means Timothy and Yvonne did not intend to secure themselves in a “legally binding” relationship. 365 S.C. 618, 626, 620 S.E.2d 59, 63 (2005). As this Court said in *Callen*, “South Carolina does not impose marriage upon a couple,” even if the couple intends to be together forever. *Id.* at 626, 620 S.E.2d at 63. *Day* and *Palm* follow the same sort of reasoning.

It is particularly notable that *Palm* was not based on the idea that the romantic relationship was criminal or illegal. *Palm* reasoned that if “dependent” did not cover someone who had a good faith belief of marriage, it surely did not cover someone who knew she and her partner were not married. *Id.* at 50, 370 S.E.2d at 468.

It is hard to see how the same rationale would not apply here. The commission found that at most, Yvonne and Timothy may have planned to get married in the future. (R.p.130, ¶11). They are indistinguishable from the couple in *Palm* who knew they were not married.

This Court has explained that following precedent is especially important in statutory interpretation cases. *Wehle v. South Carolina Ret. Sys.*, 363 S.C. 394, 402, 611 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2005). An example of this in workers’ compensation is *Wigfall v. Tidelands Utilities*; a challenge to a prior precedent about the different methods an injured worker may use to establish total disability. This Court rejected that challenge, specifically noting the legislature’s 40 years of inactivity since the prior case was decided. This Court explained “[t]he Legislature is presumed to be aware of this Court’s interpretation of its statutes[.]” and “[w]hen the Legislature fails over a forty-year period to alter a statute, its inaction is evidence the Legislature agrees with this Court’s interpretation.” 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003).

The same is true here. It has been nearly 70 years since this Court decided *Day*. It has been 30 years since the court of appeals decided *Palm*. There has been precisely one (1) amendment to the statutes discussing dependency. Act No. 92 of 1983 substituted “surviving spouse” in section 42-9-110 for “widow or widower.” 1983 S.C. Acts 189, 190. There have been no amendments to the “in all other cases” statute; section 42-9-120. This silence is particularly noteworthy given that both *Day* and *Palm* invited the legislature to tell the court if the court was reading the statute incorrectly. *Palm*, 296 S.C. at 50, 370 S.E.2d at 468; *Day*, 216 S.C. at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88.

These decisions are not about passing moral judgment on anyone. They are also not about policing intimate conduct. Instead, they are based on the common-sense decision to read the dependency statutes in light of values that the law regards as important. The law recognizes that being married to someone is different from living together and not being married. The best reading of *Day* and *Palm* is that they will not interpret dependency as encompassing this sort of relationship unless the legislature says so expressly.

**C. While it is not hard to imagine a co-habitation case that would present a difficult question, this is not that.**

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