THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 21 2019

APPEAL FROM  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION  
W.C.C. File Number 1312352 (January 20, 2016)

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
Op. No. 5566 (Ct. App. filed June 6, 2018)  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001877

Tyrone York, as personal representative  
for Timothy York (Deceased), Shirley York,  
and Yvonne Burns, Plaintiffs,

Of Whom Yvonne Burns is the ..... Respondent,

And

Shirley York is a ..... Petitioner,

v.

Longlands Plantation a.k.a. Knollwood, Inc., and  
Companion Property and Casualty Group, ..... Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT YVONNE BURNS

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

In only one very specific circumstance, not applicable here, the Act limits the class of dependents to relatives: Where the claimants are not citizens or residents of the United States or Canada, the Act limits death benefits statutorily defined surviving spouse or children (conclusively presumed wholly dependent), or, in their absence, benefits are limited to statutorily defined surviving parents. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-290 (2013) There is no similar limitation for claimants who are citizens or residents of the United States or Canada (as Yvonne undisputedly is).

The absence of similar limiting language in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-120 demonstrates two things: (1) that the legislature knows how to limit dependency to relatives by blood or marriage;

---

<sup>14</sup>It also directs how the award is to be divided among total dependents, partial dependents and nondependent children and parents. The total death benefit is to be divided among those who are wholly dependent unless there are none, in which case partial dependents are to be paid a portion of the award in accordance with the amount of support provided by the decedent. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-290 (2013). If no claimants establish total or partial dependency or if partial dependents can claim only part of the death benefit, the Law directs payment of the remaining death benefits to nondependent children, or if there are none, to the decedent’s parents irrespective of age or dependency. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-140 (2013).

<sup>15</sup>Partially dependent claimants other than minor legitimate children of the decedent may be bumped up to the level of wholly dependent claimants if they meet the statutory definition of children in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-70 (2013).

and, (2) the legislature did not intend to limit dependency in this catchall "in all other cases" statute, except to persons who can prove actual dependency. Clearly, had the legislature intended to limit this section to relatives or any other class of persons, it was fully capable of doing so, having done so in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-290. And this Court has held as much. See, e.g., *Bush v. Gingrey Bros.*, 232 S.C. 20, 24, 100 S.E.2d 821, 823 (1957) (construing § 72-161 [now § 42-9-110] and § 72-162 [now § 42-9-120], holding that they "relate to the same subject matter, are in *Pari Materia*, and must be construed together, keeping in mind of course the legislative intent[.]").

[As to] Section 72–161 [42-9-110] ... there is nothing in the Statute that gives such persons a prior or exclusive right over others who are proven to be wholly dependent in fact without regard to any presumption. Had the Legislature intended otherwise, it could easily have provided that such persons ... shall take to the exclusion of all others. This was not done, and the absence of such language is significant when considered in the light of the language of the other sections heretofore referred to[.]

*Id.* at 24–25, 100 S.E.2d at 824 (italics in original) (underscore added).

This Court's *primary function* in construing a statute is to determine the legislature's intent. *E.g.*, *State v. Ramsey*, 311 S.C. 555, 430 S.E.2d 511 (1993) (emphasis added). Where, as here, a statute is complete, plain, and unambiguous, legislative intent must be determined from the language of the statute itself. *E.g.*, *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 403 S.E.2d 660 (1991). This Court considers not merely the language of the particular clause being construed, but the word and its meaning in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law. *E.g.*, *South Carolina Coastal Council v. South Carolina State Ethics Comm'n*, 306 S.C. 41, 410 S.E.2d 245 (1991).

"What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will." *Bass v. Isochem*, 365 S.C. 454, 470, 617 S.E.2d 369, 378 (Ct. App. 2005)

(construing Workers Compensation Act notice provision § 42–15–20). “In construing a statute, its words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation.” *Olds v. City of Goose Creek*, 424 S.C. 240, 249, 818 S.E.2d 5, 10 (2018) (quoting *City of Myrtle Beach v. Juel P. Corp.*, 344 S.C. 43, 47, 543 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2001)). “Where the language of a statute is clear and explicit, the courts cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into the statute which are not in the legislature's language.” *Vaughan v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 372 S.C. 505, 510, 642 S.E.2d 744, 747 (2007) (citation omitted) (brackets omitted).

How, then, must this Court construe the plain, unlimited language of the “in all other cases” provision, § 42-9-120, in light of the Act's beneficent purpose and the policy of liberal construction in favor of coverage? Yvonne urges this Court to hold, more explicitly than it did in *Texfi IV*, that the facts of dependency are determinative, not the relationship to the deceased worker: “[W]e take this opportunity to reiterate that the dependency standard to be used in a workers' compensation case is that announced in *Adams v. Texfi Industries II.*” *Adams v. Texfi Indus. [IV]*, 341 S.C. at 404, 535 S.E.2d at 125. “Stated generally, a dependent is one who looks to another for support and maintenance; one who is in fact dependent—one who relies on another for the reasonable necessities of life.” *Adams v. Texfi Indus. [III]*, 320 S.C. 213, 217, 464 S.E.2d 109, 112 (1995) (citing *Day v. Day*, 216 S.C. 334, 342, 58 S.E.2d 83, 86–87 (1950)).

Despite *Texfi II* and *IV*, litigants, the Commission and courts continue to misunderstand that neither *Day* nor *Palm* nor § 42-9-120, nor the *Texfi* decisions limit dependents to relatives by blood or marriage. In this brief, Yvonne describes the improper limitation as “by blood or marriage” as opposed to “family” or “relatives” because, after all the years that Yvonne and Timothy lived

together in a committed relationship, raised her son Javon together, improved the home they lived in, struggled to make ends meet and grappled with the myriad effects of alcoholism, it is wickedly untrue to say that they were not family (a concept even bigger than mere 'relatives'). They most definitely were family, by choice, not the compulsion of the law. Disagreements with 'in-laws', Shirley and Tyrone, only serve to sharpen this point.

*South Carolina Second Injury Fund v. Young*, 301 S.C. 524, 392 S.E.2d 807 (Ct. App. 1990) demonstrates that "dependent" is *intentionally* broader than the specific relatives (spouse, parents, children) named in various parts of the Act. Discussing the effect of the 1972 amendment to the Act, the Court held "it in no way restricted the class of persons who could claim as *dependents*." *Id.* at 528, 392 S.E.2d at 809 (emphasis in original).

In *Young*, a wholly dependent niece claimed a right to death benefits, while the Second Injury Fund claimed that 'niece' was not a relative specifically mentioned by the Act. The Court of Appeals rejected the Fund's argument:

*This contention has no merit whatever. Indeed, the Supreme Court put it to rest in Day v. Day*, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E.2d 83 (1950). There it said:

*It is generally held that unless a Workmen's Compensation Act specifically sets forth who shall be considered ... dependent ..., dependency and the extent thereof are to be determined as questions of fact in accordance with the facts as they exist at the time of the injury to the employee.*

*Our Act does not define dependency, and does not specifically indicate who are dependents, except the designated persons who are conclusively presumed to be wholly dependent upon the deceased employee. Stated generally, a dependent is one who looks to another for support and maintenance; one who is in fact dependent - one who relies on another for the reasonable necessities of life.*

In the forty years since *Day* was decided, *our Act still does not define dependency, still does not list who may be dependents, and still only designates those persons who are conclusively presumed to be wholly dependent upon a deceased employee.* See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-110 (1976) ("A surviving spouse or a child shall be conclusively presumed to be wholly dependent for support on a deceased

employee.”); id. § 42-9-120 (“*In all other cases questions of dependency ... shall be determined in accordance with the facts as the facts may be at the time of the accident ...*”). Until our Act is changed, then, a niece of a deceased employee may ordinarily qualify for compensation as a dependent. ...

*Because no hard and fast rule can be laid down as to what constitutes actual dependency and because the question of dependency, as the Day case says, is one of fact, each case must rest and be determined on its own particular facts and circumstances.*

*South Carolina Second Injury Fund v. Young*, 301 S.C. at 526-529 (emphasis added).

S.C. Code § 42-9-120 has never been construed as limiting "dependents" to relatives. In each case, the claimant was either a relative or s/he did not make the claim under the catchall statute. For this reason, the question has never come before the Court, until now. The time has come for this Court to state clearly that the Act does not limit the class of dependents who may qualify for death benefits under this 'catchall' section.

## **II. THE COURT OF APPEALS REMAND IS REVERSIBLE ERROR**

Com. James and later the Full Commission, *both*, determined that Yvonne was financially dependent on Timothy, moreso than Shirley, and that Yvonne "would be" entitled to benefits, but for the "illicit relationship" holding in *Day*, which Yvonne has shown in argument above to be unconstitutional. (R. pp. 65; 69; 138; 142) The Commission's unchallenged findings, that Yvonne was dependent on Timothy and more so than Shirley, constitute the law of the case.

Yvonne's dependency was not challenged on appeal nor was it within the scope of her challenge. Shirley now concedes that unchallenged findings are the law of the case and she asserts that only findings related to "intimate contact" were challenged on appeal and that "[t]here are no facts in dispute here". (Petition p 5)

The Court recently explained the law of the case in Workers Compensation cases:

"Only issues raised to the Commission within the application for review of the single commissioner's order are preserved for review." *Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co.*, 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1952) (holding that all findings of fact and law by the Hearing Commissioner became and are the law of the case, unless within the scope of the appellant's exception to the Full Commission); *Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings*, 367 S.C. 161, 165, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding that the findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become and are the law of the case unless excepted to by appellant) *abrogated in part on other grounds by Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013); *Green v. City of Columbia*, 311 S.C. 78, 80, 427 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding the findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become the law of the case, unless within the scope of the appellant's exception to the single commissioner's order) *abrogated in part on other grounds by Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013). This Court has also held that general exceptions, such as "the commission erred in making an award," are too ambiguous to fulfill the notice requirements of due process and do not preserve an issue for review. *See Jones v. Anderson Cotton Mills*, 205 S.C. 247, 31 S.E.2d 447 (1944).

*Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd.*, 418 S.C. 245, 249–50, 791 S.E.2d 719, 721–22 (2016) (underscore added).

The record does not support the Court of Appeals' remand as to "whether Yvonne qualifies as a dependent under the Act", because her qualifications are already the law of the case. The Court of Appeals remand in full shows the source of its error:

In light of our reversal of the Appellate Panel's fornication findings, we remand this case to the Appellate Panel to reconsider its holding. *Day* held individuals cannot be dependents under the Act if they are involved in an illicit relationship. Here, no evidence was presented of an illicit relationship. Thus, we ask the Appellate Panel to determine, based on the evidence in the record, whether Yvonne qualifies as a dependent under the Act.

*York v. Longlands Plantation*, 424 S.C. at 285, 818 S.E.2d at 218. (App. p. 6) If the Court was directing the Commission to make findings and conclusions in accord with its findings of Yvonne's greater dependency than Shirley's and to award benefits to Yvonne and properly apportion them, it did not say so.

It appears that this remand directs the Commission not to hold an additional evidentiary

hearing, and to make its determination instead "on the evidence in the record." (*Id.*) But the Court's intent is unclear and the Commission may well send the matter to a single Commissioner for an evidentiary hearing as happened in *Russell v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 281, 826 S.E.2d 863 (On remand, the Commission remanded claimant's change of condition claim to a single commissioner for what would have been a third ruling on the same claim.).

It is as likely as not that the Commission will be swayed, on remand, by Shirley's argument that "*Day and Palm* stand for the proposition that if the legislature intended to include this sort of relationship [persons unrelated by blood or marriage] as a basis for dependency under the Act, the legislature would have said so expressly." (Petition p. 5) The Commission held that "if it had been the intention of the legislature to sanction an illicit relationship as constituting a basis for dependency, express provision would have been made... in the...Act." (R. pp. 71; 146) The Commission could just as easily substitute "the relationship of persons unrelated by blood or marriage" for the words "an illicit relationship" in its decision on remand, because the Court of Appeals offers no guidance whatsoever as to this critical issue.

That result would be error in light of the analyses of statutory construction and legislative intent. See, *Bush v. Gingrey Bros.*, 232 S.C. at 24, 100 S.E.2d at 823 (the absence of limiting language is significant when considered in the light of the language in other sections in *pari materia*); *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 403 S.E.2d 660 (plain, unambiguous statutory language is implemented, more so than construed); *South Carolina Coastal Council v. South Carolina State Ethics Comm'n*, 306 S.C. 41, 410 S.E.2d 245 (the statute is considered in the context of the Act's purpose and policy); *Bass v. Isochem*, 365 S.C. at 470, 617 S.E.2d at 378 (the best evidence of legislative intent is the text of the statute); *Olds v. City of Goose Creek*, 424 S.C. at 249, 818 S.E.2d

at 510 (courts should not resort to forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation); *Vaughan v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 372 S.C. at 510, 642 S.E.2d at 747 (courts cannot rewrite a clear statute to inject what is not there).

It would also be error in light of the analyses of the humane purpose of the Act in *Sims v. S.C. State Comm'n of Forestry*, 235 S.C. at 9, 109 S.E.2d 701; and the directive of liberal construction of the Act in favor of benefits in *Bentley v. Spartanburg Cty.*, 398 S.C. at 422, 730 S.E.2d at 298.

Thus, the Court of Appeals decision remands without resolving a legal issue of statutory construction that is subject to repeated error on remand in this and future workers compensation cases. For this reason, too, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals reversal of the Commission's denial of benefits to Yvonne, it should reverse the remand order and hold that the Commissioner's findings of Yvonne's greater dependency are the law of the case. And it should hold that § 42-9-120 does not preclude persons unrelated by blood or marriage from receiving death benefits.